International Journal of Advanced Virtual Reality



Volume: 1, Issue: 2, Page: 44-51, Year: 2023

http://www.journals.leukolion.com



Virtual World and Television Advertising of Tourism Destinations: Insights from Africa

Kezia Herman Mkwizu¹

¹ The Open University of Tanzania, Tanzania, kmkwizu@hotmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0003-4436-9603

Article History:

Received: 08 Feb 2022 Revised: 04 Sep 2022 Accepted: 27 Feb 2023 Online: 28 Feb 2023

Keywords:

Television Advertising Tourism Destinations COVID-19 Augmented Reality Africa

Abstract

This paper aims to explore the virtual world and television advertising of tourism destinations with insights from Africa. The continent of Africa experienced lock-downs and travel restrictions due to the Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) global pandemic which affected the tourism sector of many countries. Tanzania did not have a lock-down during the entire COVID-19 global pandemic hence the advantage over other African countries to the extent of being elevated to a middle-income country. Whilst there were positive effects of the pandemic, the negative effects tremendously reduced tourist numbers in destinations. However, existing technologies in the virtual world that can benefit the tourism industry such as Augmented Reality (AR) have received less attention in the Africa research agenda. To expand the scope of AR, this paper specifically explored AR technologies and television advertising of tourism destinations in the context of Tanzania. A literature review method with content analysis is used as methodology approach. The findings have shown that there are opportunities of AR in relation to television advertising of tourism destinations which include the ability to integrate AR technologies with television advertising of tourism destinations. The practical implication is for tourism stakeholders to consider the use of AR technologies to sustain television advertising of tourism destinations.

Contents

1	Introduction	44
2	Literature Review	45
2.1	Augmented Reality	45
2.2	Television (TV) Advertising of Tourism Destinations	46
2.3	Theory Framing	46
2.4	Augmented reality and television advertising of tourisdestinations	
3	Materials and Methods	47
4	Findings and Discussion	47
5	Conclusion	48
6	Acknowledgement	48

How to Cite

Mkwizu, K. H. (2023). Virtual World and Television Advertising of Tourism Destinations: Insights from Africa. *International Journal of Advanced Virtual Reality*, 1(2), 44-51.

1. Introduction

Television (TV) advertising of tourism destinations is important. Rabab'ah et al. (2020) examined 6 TV advertisements in Algeria as an African country and found that music, celebrity, and brand are among the appeals that are applied in reaching the targeted audience. It is evident that TV remains among the media which is widely viewed by consumers (Rabab'ah et al., 2020). In Sri Lanka, during the Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), the TV program called the Guru Gedara was introduced to reach students in rural schools who could not access the internet (Madhubhashini, 2021).

With TV regarded as old media, Wayne (2018) commented that new media forms do not replace old ones but are interplays of old and new between established and emerging practices. On the other hand, Blanchet and Fabry (2020) noted that platforms are considered as new operators for distribution of TV content and thus influence the attraction of destinations. Furthermore, the World Economic Forum (WEF) suggested that augmented, virtual and mixed reality technologies may be an alternative way to travel in the post-COVID-19 era (World Economic Forum (WEF), 2021).

Additionally, previous studies like Lo and Cheng (2020) have revealed that sense of presence mediates the relationship between virtual reality use and tourism advertising. Existing literature indicate that TV continues to be used as countries re-open tourism after the effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic. For example, in Tanzania, the Royal Tour is expected to showcase the beauty and endowments of destinations through TV series in order to attract more visitors internationally and locally (Tanzania Tourist Board (TTB), 2022). Furthermore, the African Tourism Board (ATB) praised the role of the first female President of Tanzania in the documentary of Royal Tour to promote Tanzania by awarding President Samia Suluhu Hassan with the Continental Tourism Award (Tanzania Tourist Board (TTB), 2022).

As countries around the world struggle to attract tourists during the re-opening of tourism, reports such as the UNWTO (2021) advocated the shift towards domestic tourism Mkwizu (2021b) added that the concept of domestic tourism needs re-defining in order to complement existing virtual technologies that enhance tourists' experiences. The study by Mkwizu (2021b) re-defined domestic tourism in the new normal as "residents visiting attractions physically or virtually within their own country". However, in countries such as Zimbabwe, it has been observed that domestic tourism has both positive and negative contributions to sustainable tourism development (Kabote, 2020), despite Zimbabweans being active domestic tourists (Kabote et al., 2019). The positive contributions include destination appreciation while the negative contribution is minimal expenditure (Kabote, 2020).

Mkwizu (2020) opined that countries within Africa have varying advantages and that each country using its comparative advantage can harness the digital marketing for tourism purposes. In marketing for tourism purposes such as hotels, the virtual world can be made to seem real by the user (Kameswari et al., 2021). Additionally, the existing technologies that combine the real and virtual worlds and in particular Augmented Reality (AR) using mobile phones in tourism (Gharaibeh et al., 2021; He et al., 2018; Nhan et al., 2022; Ronaghi and Ronaghi, 2022; Stangl et al., 2020) are advancing and revolutionizing how tourists enhance their experiences of destinations.

The country-wise projection in the importance of AR from 2019 to 2024 is expected to increase globally in the next 5 years with Mexico (94%) as the highest followed by India (87%) while in other countries including Africa is 74% (Statista, 2021). Subsequently, the market size around the world for AR and virtual reality is expected to reach USD 296.9 billion in 2024 from USD 30.7 billion in 2021 (Statista, 2022a). These projections signify the importance of AR in the coming years for the world including countries in Africa.

Conversely, Africa's tourism has the potential to increase its tourists in various destinations that are endowed with historical, cultural, natural and archaeological outstanding values including geoparks that are of great heritage not only for the continent but also the world at large. For instance, Morocco and Tanzania are the countries in Africa with Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) geoparks that have been inscribed and listed in the UNESCO world heritage list (UNESCO, 2021). A number of studies have covered the virtual world with AR and even virtual reality in relation to cameras, education, sports (Akaslan, 2021; Chander, 2021; Dolas and Ulukavak, 2021; Ernst et al., 2021; Sharma, 2020).

However, Moro (2019) advocated for more research on AR. Therefore, in expanding the scope of AR, this paper's main objective is to explore virtual world and TV advertising of tourism destinations with insights from Africa and specifically to explore AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations from the Tanzania perspective using the Access, Better, Connect, Dis-intermediate and Educate (ABCDE) theory. The question posed in this paper is that "are there opportunities in AR technologies in relation to TV advertising of tourism destinations in the context of Tanzania? In addition, this study is significant to tourism stakeholders and authorities for purposes of encouraging the use of AR in relation to TV advertising of tourism destinations.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Augmented Reality

The definition of Augmented Reality (AR) is referred to as a technology that integrates the digital information with the physical environment, live and in real time (Statista, 2022a). Past scholars (Dolas and Ulukavak, 2021) have referred to AR as a technology that can increase interaction with the real world and objects. Arth et al. (2015) defined augmented reality as a technology which enables computer-generated sound and images to be used in the real world. The concept of AR is also termed as a newer technological system in which virtual objects are added to the real world in real-time during the user's experience (Cipresso et al., 2018). This paper defines AR as the combination of virtual and real worlds using devices such as mobile phones. On the other hand, AR technologies have been defined by Chen et al. (2019) as technologies which combine virtual reality with reality. Examples of AR technologies include AR based mobile technology and AR based on wearable devices like smart glasses (Moro, 2019). According to Statista (2021), mobile AR users globally are expected to increase from 0.44 billion in 2019 to 1.73 billion in 2024.

2.2 Television (TV) Advertising of Tourism Destinations

Television (TV) advertising is considered as one of the popular means of business advertising that is supported by audio and video content to expose the viewers to promotional messages (Kuyucu, 2020). The concept of TV advertising has been described by Liaukonyte et al. (2014) as valuable in generating awareness, knowledge and interest of new products. Other scholars such as Jeong et al. (2011) have defined TV advertising as on air program promotion shown on TV. Promoting tourism destinations is critical particularly as countries re-open tourism after the effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic.

Tourism destination is a concept that has been defined by Goeldner and Ritchie (2003) as a particular geographical region within which the visitor enjoys various types of travel experiences. In tourism, destinations need advertising in order to attract tourists to visit attractions. For example, Mkwizu (2018) defined TV advertising as a tool which informs tourists about national parks. Furthermore, in relating TV advertising to domestic tourism, Mkwizu also referred to TV advertising as an internal tool which provides information about national parks to domestic tourists within a destination. For purposes of this paper, television advertising of tourism destinations is termed as the provision of information about attractions to tourists using television to promote domestic and international tourism in a destination.

2.3 Theory Framing

The theory deployed to guide this paper to explore virtual world and TV advertising of tourism destinations and specifically AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations is the Access, Better, Connect, Disintermediate, and Educate (ABCDE) theory. According to Cantoni (2018), the ABCDE theory approach covers five areas in promoting sustainable tourism. The description of each of these five areas are summarized in Table 1.

Other scholars (Shyju and Singh, 2022) in tourism have adopted the ABCDE theory to examine ICT and tourism communication with a particular interest in religious sites in India. The ABCDE theory particularly the better factor aided the study by Shyju and Singh (2022) to contribute a theoretical framework for effectiveness of mobile application usage to communicate tourism features and also better visitor engagement in heritage and religious sites. Likewise, this study applies the ABCDE theory by exploring the virtual worlds and television advertising of tourism destinations.

Adopting the ABCDE theory is relevant for this study in the sense that TV advertising of tourism destinations involves conveying information to tourists and hence exercising the access to information to the targeted audience.

Table 1. Description of main areas of the ABCDE approach (Compiled from Permatasari et al. (2020))

Volume: 1, Issue: 2, Page: 44-51, Year: 2023

Main Areas	Description	Source
Access	Widen access and raise awareness. That is broaden access of information to stakeholders.	Cantoni (2018)
Better	Enrich visitors' experiences onsite with digital communi- cations devices such as mo- bile access and AR.	Cantoni (2018)
Connect	Connect local stakeholders to heritage	Cantoni (2018)
Dis- intermediate	Information distribution, communication support and promotional activities	Davida and Cantoni (2015)
Educate	Training and education activities to relevant stakeholders using e-learning platforms, digital archives and MOOCs.	Cantoni (2018)

The information can be made better through enriching the tourists' experiences using AR technologies thus allowing to connect local stakeholders like tour operators to heritage attractions. Equally, the distribution of information and promotional activities provides the dis-intermediate while the educate facilitates the local stakeholders with relevant training via e-learning platforms and Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs).

2.4 Augmented reality and television advertising of tourism destinations

Tourism destinations globally including Africa advertise their destinations. Statista (2022b) recorded a projection revenue for TV advertising to increase from USD 151 billion in 2021 to USD 159 billion around the world in 2022. Zipin (2021) stated that television advertising is one of the most effective ways to create product or brand awareness. Zipin added that TV advertisers turn to second-screen advertising so that advert viewers are driven to their mobile devices as the second screens that engages the viewers with the company's website during the live programmes. In fact, Isenbart (2016) in Etayo et al. (2021) commented that nearly all digital device is also a TV screen today. In 2020, Kuyucu opined that TV advertising will continue to be strong in media with changes in technology. Hence, these are examples of how TV advertising is remaining relevant to the modern times. Importantly is the concluding remark by Kuyucu (2020) that the future of TV advertising could actually make use of 3D and virtual reality technologies for purposes of increasing engagement of TV adverts.

Volume: 1, Issue: 2, Page: 44-51, Year: 2023

Subsequently, Das and Madhusudan (2021) stated that the application of AR in education is to make education fruitful and fun whereas in tourism, Han et al. (2021) noted that AR can assist to reduce negative experiences due to restrictions. Other benefits of AR usage in tourism are compiled from Kounavis et al. (2012) as follows:

- Accessibility of information by tourists.
- Improve tourists' knowledge of attractions / destinations.
- · Personalized content and services.
- Allows for connectivity and sharing of experiences by tourists.
- Reduce information overload by allowing users to request information based on their desire and expectations.

Various destinations can apply AR in tourism. For example, AR can be used in museums, water tourism, cultural/heritage tourism and creation of new attractions (Han et al., 2021; Hassan and Ramkissoon, 2021; Kazmierczak et al., 2021; Ozkul and Kumlu, 2019). In addition, Cipresso et al. (2018) observed that AR is a more recent technology than Virtual Reality (VR) with AR applications such as Google glass and Google hololens. The observation by Cipresso et al. (2018) explains the absence of AR in the concluding remarks in the study by Kuyucu (2020) which centered on recommending future TV advertising studies to use 3D and virtual reality for purposes of increasing TV advertising engagements by the viewers. To expand the scope of television advertising in tourism, this paper specifically explored AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations. Africa has tourism destinations that are endowed with various attractions which need advertising to attract both local and international tourists.

For instance, in Tanzania, there are different types of attractions from the highest mountain in Africa called Mt. Kilimanjaro in Kilimanjaro National Park to wildflowers in Kitulo National Park (Tanzania National Parks (TANAPA), 2022a,b). Furthermore, past studies show that in Tanzania, there are various types of tourism from safari tourism, sports tourism, rural tourism, wildflower tourism to walking safaris (Mkwizu, 2016, 2021a, 2020; Ngaruko et al., 2020). The tourism products of Tanzania include walking safaris, cycling, mountain climbing, boat excursions, paragliding, canoeing, night game drives and hot air balloon (Tanzania National Parks (TANAPA), 2022c). Furthermore, in Tanzania, there was no lock-down during the entire COVID-19 global pandemic (Kideghesho et al., 2021; Mfinanga et al., 2021) and this means that businesses were running as usual hence the advantage over other African countries in terms of income country status.

In fact, Tanzania was elevated from a low-income country to lower middle-income country during the global COVID-19 pandemic (The World Bank, 2021). Whilst there were positive effects within the pandemic period, the negative effects have tremendously reduced the tourist numbers in various destinations worldwide including Africa. However, the existing AR technologies that can benefit the tourism industry have received less attention in the Africa research agenda. The majority of studies on virtual world and tourism in Africa such as Jude and Chike (2020); Lekgau et al. (2021); Mofokeng and Matima (2018) have focused on virtual tourism with virtual reality in Nigeria and South Africa. Hence, more studies are needed in other African countries. In efforts to increase research for Africa and expand the literature on TV advertising, therefore, this paper connects the virtual world and TV advertising of tourism destinations with insights from Africa. Hence, this paper's specific objective is to explore AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations in the context of Tanzania.

3. Materials and Methods

Literature review is the method deployed in this paper. The literature review in this paper involved an integrative literature review approach. Relevant information on AR and TV advertising of tourism destinations was obtained by reviewing books, journals, reports and conference papers for purposes of providing a new perspective of connecting the virtual world and TV advertising of tourism destinations and, specifically AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations in the context of Tanzania. Integrative literature review is referred to as the use of existing literature to create new knowledge (Torraco, 2016). For instance, there are several studies in tourism that have applied the literature review method with an integrative literature review approach and these include Cristina et al. (2021); Mkwizu (2020). This paper also used content analysis to obtain themes in exploring AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations. Past studies have applied content analysis in tourism studies. For instance, Law et al. (2021) used content analysis for themes from the perspective of customers, suppliers, technology, and policymakers in examining smart tourism. The findings from Law et al. (2021) revealed that there were more studies on customers than in suppliers, technology and policymakers. Therefore, the methodology approach for this paper uses an integrative literature review and content analysis.

4. Findings and Discussion

The literature review revealed that there are limited studies on the virtual world particularly AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations with insights from Africa, whilst the majority of studies such as Lekgau et al.

Volume: 1, Issue: 2, Page: 44-51, Year: 2023

(2021); Mofokeng and Matima (2018) have been conducted in South Africa and covered mainly virtual tourism and virtual reality. The projection on the importance of AR has an upward trend worldwide as indicated by Statista (2021). Hence, AR is important and has the potential to combine the virtual and real world for various sectors including the tourism sector for its tourism destinations. In tourism destinations, the AR technologies can be used in water tourism, museum tourism, cultural tourism and heritage tourism as indicated by Ozkul and Kumlu (2019); Kazmierczak et al. (2021). Besides, there are benefits of AR in tourism as indicated by Kounavis et al. (2012) and these are "accessibility of information by tourists", "improve tourists' knowledge of attractions/destinations", "personalized content and services", "allows for connectivity and sharing of experiences by tourists", and "reduce information overload by allowing users to request information based on their desires and expectations".

Cantoni (2018) indicated that elements of access and better in the ABCDE approach have the ability to enhance tourists' experiences. In addition, Tanzania can integrate AR technologies to make TV advertising of tourism destinations interactive. Although Kuyucu (2020) limited the scope of TV advertising to 3D and virtual reality, this paper suggests that existing literature on importance for AR and its benefits can serve as opportunities for AR technologies in TV advertising of tourism destinations in the context of Tanzania.

The opportunities can range from "access to information", "better information distribution", "improve tourists' knowledge of attractions", "connecting and sharing of experiences". Another opportunity is the integration of AR technologies in TV advertising of tourism destinations that may assist to improve tourists' knowledge of the destination. Integration of AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations will also avail training of local stakeholders on AR technologies according to Cipresso et al. (2018), AR is the current technology compared to virtual reality.

5. Conclusion

This paper explored the virtual world and TV advertising of tourism destinations with insights from Africa; and specifically, augmented reality technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations in the context of Tanzania. The findings show that there are opportunities in AR technologies in relation to TV advertising of tourism destinations and these are "access to information", "better information distribution", and "connecting and sharing of experiences". In addition, there is the opportunity for integration of AR technologies in TV advertising of tourism destinations that may assist to improve tourists' knowledge of the destination.

Furthermore, the integration of AR technologies and TV advertising of tourism destinations can provide an opportunity to train local stakeholders on augmented reality technologies in relation to TV advertising of tourism destinations. Guided by the ABCDE approach, these opportunities can provide access, better, connect, disintermediate, and educate to sustain tourism in the post-COVID-19.

The implication of this study is practical for tourism stakeholders and the authorities to consider augmented reality usage to sustain tourism for destinations in Africa, particularly Tanzania. Conversely, the identified opportunities can assist stakeholders in the tourism industry to advance TV advertising of tourism destinations by integrating augmented reality technologies in TV adverts for better experiences by tourists.

The limitations of this paper are in the use of a literature review approach and content analysis. Therefore, future studies can use the quantitative approach to provide theoretical development contributions. A mixed method approach of quantitative and qualitative may be applied by future researchers. In addition, future research can be conducted in other countries within Africa to analyse the effects of augmented reality in relation to TV advertising of tourism destinations.

6. Acknowledgement

I wish to sincerely thank my family for their unconditional love and support.

References

Akaslan, D. (2021). Perspective and non-perspective cameras in virtual worlds. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, page 35, Sanliurfa, Turkey.

Arth, C., Grasset, R., Gruber, L., Langlotz, T., Mulloni, A., and Wagner, D. (2015). The history of mobile augmented reality. Technical report, Graz University of Technology.

Blanchet, C. and Fabry, N. (2020). Influence of new cinematographic and television operators on the attractivity of tourist destinations. *Journal of Tourism Futures*, 6(3):219–222.

Cantoni, L. (2018). Heritage and sustainable tourism. the role and challenge of information and communication technologies. In Gravari-Barbas, M. and Cantoni, L., editors, *Silvia De Ascaniis*, page 68–74. Tourism Management at UNESCO World Heritage Sites.

Chander, I. (2021). Use of virtual reality mixed reality and augmented reality in sports: A survey of indian coaches. In *The 3rd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, pages 50–54, Sanliurfa, Turkey.

- Chen, Y., Wang, Q., Chen, H., Song, X., Tang, H., and Tian, M. (2019). An overview of augmented reality technology. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1237(2).
- Cipresso, P., Gigliolo, I. A. C., Raya, M. A., and Riva, G. (2018). The past, present and future of virtual and augmented reality research: A network and cluster analysis of the literature. Frontiers in Psychology.
- Cristina, M. F., Ruiz, D., and Cristina, T. C. (2021). Using sentiment analysis in tourism research: A systematic, bibliometric and integrative review. *ZBW-Leibniz Information Centre for Economics*, pages 16–27.
- Das, R. M. and Madhusudan, J. V. (2021). Augmented reality and performance enhancement technology in primary education: A systematic review. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, page 28, Sanliurfa, Turkey.
- Davida, S. and Cantoni, L. (2015). Co-design of etourism application. In *The case of Ilha de Mozambique*. Enter eTourism Conference 2015.
- Dolas, M. E. and Ulukavak, M. (2021). Displaying infrastructure data with augmented reality technology in field works. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, pages 39–49, Sanliurfa, Turkey.
- Ernst, F. B., Akdag, S., Polat, N., and Akaslan, D., O. . E. (2021). Virtual museum of harran school. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, pages 82–86, Sanliurfa, Turkey.
- Etayo, C., Bayo-Moriones, A., and Sanchez-Tabernero, A. (2021). The growth of the offer and the perceptions of television content quality. *Journal of Media Business Studies*, 26:1–1.
- Gharaibeh, M. K., Gharaibeh, N. K., Khan, M. A., Abuain, W. A. K., and Alqudah, M. K. (2021). Intention to use mobile augmented reality in the tourism sector. *Computer Systems Science and Engineering*, 37(2):187–202.
- Goeldner, C. R. and Ritchie, J. R. B. (2003). *Tourism:* principles, practices, philosophies. Hoboken, Willey.
- Han, S., Yoon, J. H., and Kwon, J. (2021). Impact of experiential value of augmented reality: The context of heritage tourism. *Sustainability*, 13:4147.
- Hassan, A. and Ramkissoon, H. (2021). *Augmented reality application in visitor experiences in nature-based tourism.*, pages 118–130. CABI International.
- He, Z., Wu, L., and Li, X. R. (2018). When art meets tech: The role of augmented reality in enhancing museum experiences and purchase intentions. *Tourism Management*, 68:127–139.

- Isenbart, J. (2016). Make your favourite medium shine. EGTA.
- Jeong, Y., Kim, Y., and Zhao, X. (2011). Competing for consumer memory in television advertising: An empirical examination of the impacts of non-editorial clutter on brand memory in mega-event broadcasts. *International Journal of Advertising*, 30(4):617–640.
- Jude, O. C. and Chike, U. (2020). Tourism and virtual reality (ar) in developing nations. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 9(2):1–16.
- Kabote, F. (2020). Contribution of domestic tourism to sustainable tourism development. https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/74265. Accessed 5 January 2022.
- Kabote, F., Mamimine, P. W., and Muranda, Z. (2019). A situational analysis of zimbabwe's domestic tourists' travel trends. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 5:1.
- Kameswari, K. S. S., Prasad, P. S. S., and Gunnam, R. (2021). Role of virtual reality in cultural heritage hospitality and tourism. In *Proceedings of The 3rd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, pages 82–86, Sanliurfa, Turkey.
- Kazmierczak, R., Szczepanska, A., Kowalczyk, C., Grunwald, G., and Janowski, A. (2021). Using ar technology in tourism based on the example of maritime educational trips a conceptual model. *Sustainability*, 13.
- Kideghesho, J. R., Kimaro, H. S., Mayengo, G., and Kisingo, A. W. (2021). Will tanzania's wildlife sector survive the covid-19 pandemic? *Tropical Conservation Science*, 14:1–18.
- Kounavis, C. D., Kasimati, A. E., and Zamani, E. D. (2012). Enhancing the tourism experience through mobile augmented reality: Challenges and prospects. *International Journal of Engineering Business Management*, 4.
- Kuyucu, M. M. (2020). Television and advertising: The history of tv advertising from an industrial look. *Social Mentality and Researcher Thinkers Journal*, 6(29):258–269.
- Law, R., Ye, H., and Chan, I. C. C. (2021). A critical review of smart hospitality and tourism research. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*.
- Lekgau, R. J., Harilal, V., and Feni, A. (2021). Reimagining tourism: Covid-19 and the potential of virtual tourism in south africa. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 10(4):1516–1532.
- Liaukonyte, J., Teixeira, T., and Wilbur, K. C. (2014). *Television advertising and online shopping*. Marketing Science.

- Lo, W. H. and Cheng, K. L. B. (2020). Does virtual reality attract visitors? the mediating effect of presence on consumer response in virtual reality tourism advertising. *Information Technology and Tourism*, 22:537–562.
- Madhubhashini, G. T. (2021). The role of television as an educational medium in empowering rural students in sri lanka during the covid-19 pandemic. *Online Journal of Language, Communication and Humanities*, 4(2):89–100.
- Mfinanga, S. G., Mnyambwa, N. P., Minja, D. T., Ntinginya, N. E., Ngadaya, E., Makani, J., and Makubi, A. N. (2021). Tanzania's position on the covid-19 pandemic. *The Lancet*, 397(10284):1542–1543.
- Mkwizu, K. H. (2018). *The Influence of Television Advertising on Domestic Tourism: A case of Southern Tourist Attractions in Tanzania*. PhD thesis, The Open University of Tanzania.
- Mkwizu, K. H. (2020). Digital marketing and tourism: Opportunities for africa. *International Hospitality Review*, 34(1):5–12.
- Mkwizu, K. H. (2021a). Perception of bao as sports tourism: Evidence from tanzania. *South Asian Journal of Tourism and Hospitality*, 1(2):103–122.
- Mkwizu, K. H. (2021b). Re-defining domestic tourism in the 'new normal'. a literature review. In *The 3rd Africa-Asia Dialogue Network (AADN) International Conference on Advances in Business Management and Electronic Commerce Research (AADNIC-ABMECR)*, Ganzhou, Jiangxi, China.
- Mkwizu, K. H. M. (2016). Promoting kitulo national park as a wildflower tourism destination in tanzania: An analysis of media channels and gender among domestic tourists. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, 5(10):388–393.
- Mofokeng, N. E. M. and Matima, T. K. (2018). Future tourism trends: Virtual reality-based tourism utilizing distributed ledger technologies. *African Journal of Hospitality and Leisure*, 7:3.
- Moro, S. (2019). Analyzing recent augmented and virtual reality developments in tourism. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology*.
- Ngaruko, D. D., Mtae, G. H., and Mkwizu, K. H. (2020). Knowledge, attitude and practice of bao sport in cultural tourism promotion in tanzania. *International Journal on Arts, Management and Humanities*, 9(1&2):8–18.
- Nhan, V. K., Tam, L. T., Dung, H. T., and Vu, N. T. (2022). A conceptual model for studying the immersive mobile augmented reality application-enhanced experience. *Heliyon*, 8(8):e10141.

- Ozkul, E. and Kumlu, S. T. (2019). Augmented reality applications in tourism. *International Journal of Contemporary Tourism Research*, 3(2):107–122.
- Permatasari, P. A., Qohar, A. A., and Rachman, A. F. (2020). From web 1.0 to web 4.0: The digital heritage platforms for unesco's heritage properties in indonesia. *Archaeology Review*, 11(23):75–93.
- Rabab'ah, G., Idir, L., and Alghazo, S. (2020). Persuasive appears in jordanian and algerian telecommunication television commercials. *Open Linguistic*, 6:307–321.
- Ronaghi, M. H. and Ronaghi, M. (2022). A contextualized study of the usage of the augmented reality technology in the tourism industry. *Decision Analytics Journal*, 5(100136).
- Sharma, R. (2020). Pedagogy and self-directed learning through virtual world. In *Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Virtual Reality*, page 15, Sanliurfa, Türkiye.
- Shyju, P. J. and Singh, C. S. B. (2022). The role of ict tools in tourism communication at heritage and religious sites examining the better factor in the abcde model in handbook on heritage. In Ascaniis, S. D. and Cantoni, L., editors, *Sustainable Tourism and Digital Media*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Stangl, B., Ukpabi, D. C., and Park, S. (2020). Augmented reality applications: The impact of usability and emotional perceptions on tourists' app experiences. *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism* (*Springer*), pages 181–191.
- Statista (2021). Number of mobile augmented reality (ar) active users worldwide from 2019 to 2024. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1098630/global-mobile-augmented-reality-ar-users/. Accessed 16 October 2021.
- Statista (2022a). Augmented reality (ar) and virtual reality (vr) market size worldwide from 2016 to 2024. https://www.statista.com/statistics/591181/global-augmented-virtual-reality-market-size/. Accessed 7 January 2022.
- Statista (2022b). Global television advertising revenue from 2021 to 2022. https://www.statista.com/statistics/237803/global-tv-advertising-revenue/. Accessed 7 January 2022.
- Tanzania National Parks (TANAPA) (2022a). https://www.tanzaniaparks.go.tz/uploads/publications/en-1633175047-KI-ENG.pdf. Accessed 5 January 2022.

- Tanzania National Parks (TANAPA) (2022b). https://www.tanzaniaparks.go.tz/uploads/publications/en-1634501095-KT-ENG.pdf. Accessed 5 January 2022.
- Tanzania National Parks (TANAPA) (2022c). Tourism products. https://www.tanzaniaparks.go.tz/pages/tourism-products. Accessed 5 January 2022.
- Tanzania Tourist Board (TTB) (2022). News and event: Samia earns tourism award. https://www.tanzaniatourism.go.tz/en/highlights/view/samia-earns-tourism-award. Accessed 4 January 2022.
- The World Bank (2021). The world bank in tanzania: Overview: Context. https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/tanzania/overview#1. Accessed 7 January 2022.
- Torraco, R. J. (2016). Writing integrative literature reviews: using the past and present to explore the future. *Human Resource Development Review*, 15(4):404–428.
- UNESCO (2021). World heritage list. https://whc.un
 esco.org/en/list/.
- Wayne, M. L. (2018). Netflix, amazon, and branded television content in subscription video on-demand portals. *Media, Culture and Society*, 40(5):725–741.
- World Economic Forum (WEF) (2021). How virtual tourism can rebuild travel for a post-pandemic world. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/05/covid-19-travel-tourism-virtual-reality/. Accessed 2 January 2022.
- Zipin, D. (2021). How tv advertising industry works. Accessed 7 January 2022.